FILED 8/31/2017 3:09 PM Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

Supreme Court No. _____ Court of Appeals No. 34176-3-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

RICHARD GARCIA

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITTITAS COUNTY

The Honorable David Elofson, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LISA E. TABBUT Attorney for Appellant P. O. Box 1319 Winthrop, WA 98862 (509) 996-3959

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Richard Garcia, through his attorney Lisa E. Tabbut, requests the relief designated in part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Garcia seeks review, in part, of the June 15, 2017, unpublished opinion (Appendix A) and the August 1, 2017, Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration (Appendix B) of Division Three of the Court of Appeals.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A defendant is deprived effective assistance of counsel when counsel fails to adequately research and understand legal procedures and the law and his client incurs prejudice because of it. The state failed to take adequate measures to assure the attendance of witnesses critical to proving felony assault and harassment against Richard Garcia yet defense counsel agreed to a mid-trial continuance to allow the state to present the witnesses and prove both second degree assault and felony harassment against Mr. Garcia. Defense counsel failed to comprehend that no witnesses equated to no convictions. Does trial counsel's ineffectiveness raise a significant issue under the United States and Washington Constitutions necessitating reversal of Mr. Garcia's assault and harassment convictions?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Kittitas County prosecutor charged Richard Garcia with assault in the first degree, felony harassment (threat to kill), and unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 1-2. The named victim of the assault and harassment was Mr. Garcia's wife, April Garcia.

Mr. Garcia was arraigned on October 5, 2015, and the court set trial for November 17. On November 13, the court reset the trial to start December 1.

Trial commenced on December 1 with the state telling the court it would not be calling April as a witness. RP I 34. The state characterized her as "unavailable" and that its (unspecified) efforts to secure her attendance were "futile." RP I 34. The state assured the court it was not seeking a material witness warrant so as to avoid disrupting "her life or the lives of her children." RP I 34.

In lieu of live testimony from April, the state motioned the court to admit certain statements allegedly made by April contemporaneous with the charged incident. RP I 36-61. The court initially granted the state's motions in part. The jury was sworn. RP I 92. The next morning, before taking any testimony, the court reversed its ruling and declined to admit any statements by the still-absent April. RP I 128-132.

The court asked the state to give additional information about its effort to secure April's presence for testimony. RP I 108. The state said it would have attempted to secure April's presence had she been at a known address in Washington. RP 1 108. However, April left her home in Cle Elum shortly after the charged incident and moved to Oregon. RP I 109. The prosecutor's victim witness coordinator contacted April. RP I 109. The contact became more sporadic and the victim witness coordinator could only leave voicemails for April. RP I 110.

The state obtained April's email address. RP I 110. The state exchanged email with April. The prosecutor spoke with April on the phone. RP I 111. Although April did not refuse to testify, it was the state's sense she was reluctant to testify. RP I 111-12. All of this contact took place before the reset of the original November 17 trial date. RP I 112.

The prosecutor sent April an email telling her the trial was reset to December 1. RP I 113. Thereafter, additional calls to April either went to her voicemail or her voicemail was full and would not accept a message. RP I 113. The prosecutor stepped up its effort to contact April by putting the lead investigator, Cle Elum Officer Jennifer Rogers, on the task. RP I 113-14. Officer Rogers left voicemails for April until her voicemail was full.

RP I 114. Officer Rogers tried to locate April in Oregon. An Oregon police officer successfully contacted one of April's sons. RP I 114.

The prosecutor resolved to try the case without April's testimony.

RP I 115.

The prosecutor knew that to compel April's subpoenaed testimony in Washington, he had to have help from an Oregon court. RP I 118. Ultimately, rather than doing so, the prosecutor made a tactical decision to try its case without April's testimony. RP I 119. In making that decision, the prosecutor weighed the disruption to April and her children and the trauma he felt they had already experienced. "We're going to go for it. We're going to go forward without the victim, and it is what it is. And that's it." RP I 119.

The court refused to change its mind about the admission of April's alleged statements in lieu of April's in-person testimony. RP I 149.

The state told the court it could not prove the assault and the harassment charges without April's testimony. RP I 136, 154.

For the first time, the state asked the court to issue a material witness warrant not only for April but also for two of her daughters, ages 7 and 16. RP I 150, 154, 157; RP II 304. This was the first endorsement of

the daughters as witnesses. The court issued material witness warrants. RP I 159; RP II 287.

The state also asked for a modified "good cause" continuance. RP I 151. The prosecutor wanted to start the trial right away and present a few witnesses. RP I 151-53. But because a police officer had a pre-scheduled vacation from December 6-12, he asked the trial be adjourned and recommence ideally with April and the children present. RP I 151, 159.

Defense counsel agreed to the state's request to put on the witnesses and then adjourn the trial to a later date. RP I 159; RP II 303. Defense counsel believed the case was "highly defensible" from a defense perspective. RP I 139. He hoped to interview April and the children before they testified. RP II 312.

The parties settled on December 15 as the continued trial date. RP II 3-4. 309. In the meantime, April and the children were located in Oregon. RP II 320; RP III 522. The prosecutor participated in the process to have an Oregon court order them to appear in Kittitas County Superior Court.

April and the children testified. RP II 320, 359-400; RP III 401-44, 532-35. The jury returned a verdict of guilty to a lesser assault in the second degree, felony harassment, and unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree. CP 7-11.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Defense counsel denied Mr. Garcia effective assistance of counsel by agreeing to a mid-trial continuance when he knew the state could not prove the charges against Garcia without the continuance and the opportunity to subpoena witnesses.

The Sixth Amendment guarantees the right to the effective assistance of counsel in criminal proceedings. *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963); *Powell v. Alabama*, 287 U.S. 45, 53 S.Ct. 55, 77 L.Ed 158 (1932). "The right to counsel plays a crucial role in the adversarial system embodied in the Sixth Amendment, since access to counsel's skill and knowledge is necessary to afford defendants the 'ample opportunity to meet the case of the prosecution' to which they are entitled." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 685, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984).

The proper standard for attorney performance is that of reasonably effective assistance. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. To prevail on a claim that a defendant was denied this right, the court must find that counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. Counsel's deficient performance is prejudicial if there is a reasonable probability that the

result of the proceeding would have been different but for counsel's errors. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims are reviewed de novo.

State v. Brown, 159 Wn. App. 366, 370, 245 P.3d 776 (2011).

CrR 3.3(f) permits the court to grant continuances "(1) upon written agreement of the parties or (2) when a delay is required in the administration of justice and the defendant will not be prejudiced, so long as the parties agree in writing or on motion from a party or the court." A trial court commits reversible error if it grants a continuance without "good cause." *State v. Mack*, 89 Wn.2d 788, 794, 576 P.2d 44 (1978).

Good cause did not exist. The state headed into trial assuming the court would admit certain hearsay evidence and with no intent to call April or her two children as witnesses. RP I 34. Neither of the children were even listed as state's witnesses. When the court declined to admit the hearsay, the state's lack of due diligence in obtaining the presence of the three material witnesses came to light.

The requirements for a continuance are not satisfied where the state moves to continue to secure a material witness but fails to prove it acted with due diligence in seeking to secure the witness's presence.

State v. Nguyen, 68 Wn. App. 906, 915-16, 847 P.2d 936 (1993). "[A] party's failure to make 'timely use of the legal mechanisms available to compel the witness' presence in court' preclude[s] granting a continuance for the purpose of securing the witness' presence at a subsequent date." State v. Adamski, 111 Wn.2d 574, 579, 761 P.2d 621 (1988), quoting State v. Toliver, 6 Wn. App. 531, 533, 494 P.2d 514 (1972). "[T]he issuance of a subpoena is a critical factor in granting a continuance." State v. Wake, 56 Wn. App. 472, 476, 783 P.2d 1131 (1989). Due diligence must be exercised to secure the attendance of a witness, and that due diligence includes the issuance of a subpoena and taking necessary steps to enforce attendance. Toliver, 6 Wn. App. at 533; State v. Fortson, 75 Wn.2d 57, 448 P.2d 505 (1968). If a witness is material and will not respond to a lawfully issued subpoena, a material witness warrant is an available option. CrR 4.10. A procedure is also available that allows for out-of-state state witnesses to be summoned to testify in a Washington court. RCW 10.55.060.

A court may continue a case if a material state's witness is unavailable to testify only if there is a valid reason for the unavailability, if the witness will become available within a reasonable time, and if the continuance will not substantially prejudice the defendant. State v. Day,

51 Wn. App. 544, 549, 754 P.2d 1021 (1988). None of these factors were present in Mr. Garcia's case.

Other than the prosecutor talking to April over the phone and telling her she would need to come and testify, nothing was done to secure her attendance prior to a jury having been selected and sworn to hear the case. RP I 108-19.

When the prosecutor lost phone contact with April two weeks before trial, rather than utilizing the out-of-state witness procedure to secure a material witness warrant for April, he decided to go to trial without her and the (unendorsed) children.

The state's reticence to disturb April and her children, followed by the sudden awareness it needed her testimony to prove its case, is not good cause for a continuance. The trial court erred in finding otherwise.

The state readily found April and the children after the court granted its untimely mid-trial request for a material witness warrant. The ease in finding April is a testament to how available April was for trial despite her implied reluctance to appear.

In asking for the trial continuance, the state told the court it could not prove both the assault and the felony harassment without April's testimony. The state told the court it would seek a sentence of 30 years

to life against Mr. Garcia. RP I 134. Even with this hanging over Mr. Garcia's head, defense counsel agreed to a mid-trial continuance to allow the state to obtain the testimony of April and the children to enable the conviction of Mr. Garcia. Had the court refused to grant the continuance, as it should have because the state had not complied with its obligation to use due diligence in subpoenaing its witnesses for trial, there would have been no case to defend. The court would have been compelled to direct a verdict dismissing the case for lack of sufficient evidence.

Defense counsel's assertion that April's presence would make his case more defensible confounds reason. He had not interviewed April or the children. RP II 312. April and the children did not help the defense case at all. RP II 359; RP III 434. Mr. Garcia was convicted and sent to prison.

Defense counsel's failure to move to dismiss the charges is unfathomable. The trial court's decision was based on defense counsel's agreement to the continuance. The court noted, "Defense has not objected to this, and in fact has embraced the idea that April Garcia should be here." RP II 313. The court recognized its authority to be, by its own term, a "hard-liner" by denying the continuance, and have the state fail in its proof resulting in dismiss of the case with prejudice. Instead,

because "everyone" agreed to the continuance, the judge allowed it to happen. RP II 318.

An appellant making an ineffective assistance of counsel claim faces a strong presumption that counsel's representation was effective. State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 33, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). Legitimate trial strategy or tactics cannot serve as the basis for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 863, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). However, "[w]here an attorney unreasonably fails to research or apply relevant statutes without any tactical purpose, that attorney's performance is constitutionally deficient." In re Pers. Restraint of Yung-Cheng Tsai, 183 Wn.2d. 91, 102, 351 P.3d 138 (2015). "'An attorney's ignorance of a point of law that is fundamental to his case combined with his failure to perform basic research on that point is a quintessential example of unreasonable performance under Strickland." Yung-Cheng Tsai, 183 Wn.2d at 102 (quoting Hinton v. Alabama, U.S., 134 S.Ct. 1081, 1089, 188 L.Ed.2d 1 (2014)). Failing to conduct research falls below an objective standard of reasonableness where the matter is at the heart of the case. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d at 868 (2009) (failure to object to inaccurate self-defense instructions).

Here, defense counsel acknowledged he had "limited ability" to do research. RP IV 678. Perhaps this limited ability led to counsel's failure to recognize that the state, without witnesses, without the requisite proof, with no attempt to take measures to assure witnesses' attendance, had no legal basis for a continuance and no case against Mr. Garcia. Where an attorney is ignorant of a point of law that is fundamental to the case and fails to perform basic research on the point, his conduct is unreasonable. *Yung—Cheng Tsai*, 183 Wn.2d at 10. A flat dismissal of unproven charges at trial with jeopardy attached¹ is better than any defense that defense counsel could have presented on Mr. Garcia's behalf.

Defense counsel's constitutional ineffectiveness entitles Mr.

Garcia to reversal of his convictions and dismissal of the charges with prejudice.

F. CONCLUSION

Mr. Garcia asks this Court to grant review and reverse his convictions.

¹ A criminal defendant cannot be put in jeopardy twice for the same offense. U.S. Const. Amend. V; Wash. Const. art. I, § 9. And jeopardy attaches when a jury is selected and sworn. *State v. Juarez*, 115 Wn. App. 881, 882-83, 64 P.3d 83 (2003).