FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/27/2017 2:38 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 94949-2 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Kittitas County Superior Court Cause No. 15-1-00277-4 Court of Appeals No. 34176-3-III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent

VS.

RICHARD GARCIA,

Petitioner

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DOUGLAS R. MITCHELL WSBA #22877 Kittitas County Prosecutor's Office 205 W. 5th Ave, Ste. 213 Ellensburg, WA 98926

(509) 962-7520

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT:

The State of Washington was the Plaintiff in the Superior Court, Respondent in the Court of Appeals, and is Respondent herein. The State is represented by the Kittitas County Prosecutor's Office.

II. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT:

The State is asking this Court to affirm the decision of the Court of Appeals and uphold the Petitioner's Convictions for Assault in the Second Degree and Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the Second Degree.

III. RESPONSE TO ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW:

Defense counsel did not improperly fail to object to a continuance. There was a recess, not a continuance, and the analysis is not at all the same. Petitioner was thus not denied effective assistance of counsel. The State acted with due diligence in its efforts directed at having the named victim and two of her children appear for trial.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE:

Petitioner's summary describing the facts of the case

(Petition, at 2-5) is generally sufficient for the purpose of Respondent's response, and will be accepted as it is except as otherwise supplemented or disputed below.

V. ARGUMENT:

A. Defense counsel did not fail to object to a continuance; there was no continuance to which counsel could object, and thus counsel was not ineffective.

Petitioner's careful analysis and discussion of CrR 3.3 and associated case law is not applicable, and this Court, like the Court of Appeals, should reject it. There was only one continuance of the trial. On November 13, 2015, trial was reset to December 1, 2015. CP, 34; Petition, at 2. A continuance is "(t)he adjournment or postponement of an action pending in a court, to a subsequent day of the another term." same or http://thelawdictionary.org/continuance/, last accessed September 25, 2017. CrR 3.3 does not have a definition of "continuance", but 3.3(f) is consistent with that definition. Both subsections thereof use the phrase "continue the trial date to a specified date". As with the rest of CrR 3.3, this language is consistent with the intent of the drafters to address the commencement day of a trial. The rule itself is referred to as

"Time for Trial" in its header. Although both counsel and the Court regularly used the word "continuance", this was an incorrect use.

Trial did in fact commence with motions and other preliminary matters on December 1, 2015. RP, 33; 158. State v. Andrews, 66 Wn. App. 804, 832 P. 2d 1373 (1992). The Court reversed its decision with regard to the admissibility of testimony by Officer Rogers about the victim's statements after a long and careful discussion and analysis December 2. RP, 107; 128 – 133. This left the State faced with an immediate problem in proving its case. Although there were references to a "continuance", the Court correctly noted that the trial had already started. RP, 158 – 159. As such, there could not have been a continuance.

What occurred was a recess, "a stoppage in court proceedings for a short period of time but the court is not adjourned." http://thelawdictionary.org/recess/, last accessed on September 25, 2017. A trial court's grant of a recess is reviewed for abuse of discretion. In a case in which there was a two month

¹ The Verbatim report of proceedings is organized as four volumes, consecutively paginated, and the State will simply use those page numbers. A brief review indicates that the numbers appear the same as those cited by Petitioner.

 $^{^2}$ The entire exchange between the Court and attorneys is substantially longer, running between pp. 107-160 and addresses multiple aspects of the analysis of the hearsay issue and related changes in the logistics of trying the case.

recess in the course of trial, the Court of Appeals dealt with the issue in a cursory fashion and upheld the trial court's actions. *State v. Bluehorse*, 159 Wn. App. 410, 248 P. 3d 527 (2011)(citation omitted). (No reason for the recess appears in the opinion.) This is consistent with a line of cases going back to *State v. Mays*, 65 Wn. 2d 58, 395 P. 2d 758 (1964). The discussion in *Mays* appears to conflate the consideration of "continuance" and "recess", and itself relies on cases based upon *State v. Connor*, 107 Wash. 571, 182 P. 602 (1918). After *Mays*, there is recognition that the analysis based on speedy trial/time for trail considerations is not applicable to consideration of the court's discretion with regard to a recess. Cases subsequent to *Mays* thus make a more precise distinction between a continuance and a recess.

As far as can be determined, the law in this area seems to be well settled, as the vast majority of the cases are unpublished. As in *Bluehorse*, the review of the decision to grant a recess is very deferential. Further, the State has not been able to find a case in which the defense's objection to a recess under such circumstances, if any, was effective. It is probable that any such objection would have been pointless. Given that the trial court is to "... exercise reasonable control over the mode and order of

interrogating witnesses and presenting evidence ...," this is predictable. ER 611.

As with the attention to and reliance upon the provisions of CrR 3.3, Petitioner's careful and detailed analysis of the case law with regard to ineffective assistance of counsel is not relevant, as it starts from essentially the same fundamental misunderstanding. The State acknowledges that there is language in *State v. Becerra*, 66 Wn. App. 202, at 206, 831 P. 2d 781 (1992) that might support Petitioner's assertion. However, the language not only appears to be *dicta*, but CrR 3.3 has been amended four times since then and the version in place now limits its effect to the trial date as discussed above. There is thus still no support for Petitioner's position.

B. The trial court did not err in finding that the State had acted with due diligence in its efforts to have April Garcia and her daughters appear to testify.

Petitioner misunderstands the State's planning for the trial. Even as close as ten days before the trial date, the State did in fact expect to call April³ and her children. RP, 26. It is true that not all

5

³ Due to the fact that the Petitioner, the victim, and both child witnesses all share the same last name, other than the Petitioner, first names will be used as needed to differentiate them. No disrespect is intended.

of the names of potential witnesses appeared on the witness list referred to by Petitioner. However, there can be no claim of surprise; as shown above, the State made that intent clear. It is probable that the failure to list them on an amended witness list is a mere oversight; a consequence of the evolution of the trial DPA's perception of the case and the tactical reality. Such an evolution is a familiar experience to trial attorneys, especially when dealing with victims whose emotional response to the matter may impact their will to testify. Some victims may be explicitly non-compliant; some may be disingenuous; some may vacillate. For example, the State did not know that the victim's mother would be available and willing to testify until "Monday morning", apparently a reference to November 30, 2015, the day before trial commenced. RP, 103. However the situation arose, it was well within the Court's discretion to allow those witnesses to be called, as long as defense counsel had sufficient time to address the addition. State v. Hoggatt, 38 Wn. 2d 932, 234 P. 2d 495 (1951).

On the first day of the trial, the State informed the Court of the changed circumstances with regard to the victim and her children as witnesses. RP, 34. The Court was then informed in detail of the State's plans to make use of the victim's excited utterances to Officer Rogers and the basis for doing so. RP, 36 – 44. After hearing argument, the Court determines that the excited utterances about the event would be admissible. RP, 49. The victim's statements about the history of domestic violence perpetrated by Petitioner would not be. RP, 50.

The Court determined that the hearsay decision should be revisited on the second day of trial. RP, 107. One of the considerations about which the Court desired more information was the efforts to secure the presence of the victim, April. Among other factors impeding the State's ability to bring her to court was her rapid move out of State. To the best of the State's knowledge, she had gone to Oregon. RP, 109. As of two to three weeks prior to trial, the State expected April and her daughters to be present. RP, 111. Despite Petitioner's assertions to the contrary, not until the Friday before trial, November 27, did it become clear that April was non-compliant, not merely non-committal. RP, 115. Defense counsel had similar experiences, and although he suspected the reality, did not know until the last minute that April would not be located. RP, 125.

The detailed record of the State's efforts to obtain her presence and the related problems are provided at RP 108 – 122.

Under the circumstances as presented to and found by the trial court, there was a basis for obtaining a material witness warrant under the provisions of CrR 4.10(a)(3). The State had not found a valid address for April and her daughters and until shortly before trial, had no reason to expect that she would be uncooperative and that formal process as provided for in RCW 10.55 and CrR 4.10 would be needed. When forced to, the State had also made an analysis of the possibility of going forward without those witnesses. As the trial court initially ruled consistent with the State's argument on December 1, it is clear that the State's analysis was valid and not done in bad faith. There was a more than ample basis upon which the trial court could conclude that the State had acted with due diligence under the circumstances as they evolved. State v. Eller, 84 Wn. 2d 90, 524 P. 2d 242 (1974). The only information in the record does not detail the effort required for the State to locate the witnesses. The record only reflects that it was one week between the issuance of the material witness warrants and the certification by the trial judge. CP, 133, 138, 143; 144 – 150.

Petitioner's misunderstanding of the process by which the trial was started and then stopped for a period introduces error into

the analysis of this issue. The State will concede that the distinction has been missed by all involved at some point; there seems to be an on-going confusion of what actually happened, a "recess", with what it was often labeled, a "continuance". The undersigned has not been immune to that. However, the distinction is critical. The entire critique of the State's efforts, and subsequently, defense counsel's performance, reflects an analysis based upon case law about continuances. Assuming without conceding that Petitioner's analysis would be correct if this were in fact a "continuance", it is not relevant. That case law is simply not applicable here. The Court's discretion with regard to recessing for a period of time to allow the State to locate and serve the witnesses once trial has started is substantial, and the review deferential.

More correctly, the State's efforts had to be "reasonable" in order to be a "good faith effort" to ensure that the witnesses were present. *State v. Hurtado*, 173 Wn. App. 592, 294 P. 3d 838 (2013). Reasonableness by its nature requires an objective analysis; "reason" is "... a rational ground or motive ...", or "... a sufficient ground of explanation or of logical defense ...". https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/reason, last accessed September 25, 2017. Comparing the state's efforts here to the

analysis a fair trial, and that is what the Petitioner was entitled to receive – a fair trial. "A judicial system which treats every error as a basis for reversal simply could not function because, although the courts can assure a fair trial, they cannot guarantee a perfect one." State v. Barry, 183 Wn. 2d 297, 316 – 317, 352 P. 3d 161 (2015)(citation omitted).

DATED this 27 day of September, 2017.

Respectfully submitted,

DOUGLAS R. MITCHELL, WSBA # 22877

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 205 West 5th #213

Ellensburg, WA 98926

Phone: (509) 962-7520

Email: doug.mitchell@co.kittitas.wa.us

Fax: (509) 962-7022